Distribution Agreement

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Kylie Snow

Date

County-level characteristics associated with variation in end-stage kidney disease mortality in

the United States, 2010-2018

By

Kylie Snow

Master of Public Health

Epidemiology

Dr. Jessica Harding

Committee Chair

County-level characteristics associated with variation in end-stage kidney disease mortality in

the United States, 2010-2018

By

Kylie Snow

B.S., Georgetown University, 2019

Thesis Committee Chair: Jessica Harding, PhD

An abstract of A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Epidemiology 2021

Abstract

County-level characteristics associated with variation in end-stage kidney disease mortality in

the United States, 2010-2018

By Kylie Snow

Background: Once diagnosed with end-stage kidney disease (ESKD), mortality risk is high. Individual-level factors known to be associated with increased mortality in this patient population include age, race, gender, and multiple comorbidities. However, few studies have examined county-level characteristics associated with ESKD mortality. Therefore, using a national registry of ESKD patients receiving kidney replacement therapy (KRT) in the United States, we examined county-level variation in ESKD mortality and identified county-level characteristics associated with this variation.

Methods: Using the United States Renal Data System, we estimated county-level agestandardized mortality rates (ASMR) among all adults (N=1,516,742, aged 18-84) across 2,807 counties with ESKD receiving KRT between 2010 and 2018. County-level ASMRs were linked to county-level demographic (e.g., % female), socioeconomic (e.g., % unemployed), health care (e.g., % without health insurance), and health behavior (e.g., % current smokers) characteristics from publicly available census and survey data. Hierarchical linear mixed models, with a random intercept for state, identified county-level characteristics associated with ESKD-related ASMRs and quantified the percentage of variation explained by county-level characteristics.

Results: County-level ESKD-related ASMRs ranged from 25 to 509 per 1,000 person-years (PY). ASMRs were highest in counties located in the Tennessee Valley and Appalachia regions, and lowest in counties located in New England, the upper Midwest, and in some regions along the West coast. Overall, county-level characteristics explained 20% of variation in ESKD-related ASMRs. In fully adjusted models, a lower percentage of Black people (-5.33 deaths/1,000PY), higher health care expenditures (3.76 deaths/1,000PY), and lower percentage of people who drink excessively (-2.99 deaths/1,000PY) were significantly associated with ESKD mortality.

Conclusions: In this study, we show substantial variation in ESKD mortality by county, and find that approximately 20% of this variation is explained by county-level characteristics. Given that a large proportion of county-level variation (~80%) is unexplained, targeted vs. population-wide interventions may play a more important role in reducing ESKD mortality.

County-level characteristics associated with variation in end-stage kidney disease mortality in

the United States, 2010-2018

By

Kylie Snow

B.S., Georgetown University, 2019

Thesis Committee Chair: Jessica Harding, PhD

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of the Rollins School of Public Health of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Public Health in Epidemiology 2021

Table of Contents

Background	1
Epidemiology of end-stage kidney disease in the United States	1
Geographic variation in end-stage kidney disease in the United States	2
Factors associated with geographic variation in end-stage kidney disease	3
Knowledge gaps	5
Study aims	5
Methods	6
Data sources	6
Study population	7
Mortality ascertainment	7
County-level characteristics	7
Statistical analyses	8
Results	9
Discussion	11
Comparison to previous literature	12
Public health implications	14
Strengths and limitations	15
Conclusion	15
References	17
Tables and Figures	21
Table 1. Definitions of county-level characteristics and data sources	21
Table 2. Summary of U.S. county-level characteristics among 2,807 counties included in the analysis	nis 23
Table 3. Associations of U.S. county-level characteristics with end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) mortality, 2010-2018	24
Figure 1. Trends in age, race, and sex adjusted end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) incidence 1990-2018.	, 26
Figure 2. Flowchart of study cohort	27
Figure 3. Age-standardized end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) mortality rates across 2,807 counties in the United States, 2010-2018	28
Figure 4. State-level intercepts for age-standardized end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) mortality rates before and after adjustment for county-level characteristics in 2,807 countie the United States, 2010-2018	s in 29

Supplementary Files	30
Table S1. Variance inflation factors for county characteristics	30
Table S2. Correlation matrix for county characteristics	31

Background

Epidemiology of end-stage kidney disease in the United States

In the United States, approximately 15% (37 million) of adults are estimated to have chronic kidney disease (CKD), the ninth leading cause of death.¹ In 2018, more than 785,000 patients had advanced to end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) – the most advanced stage of CKD – which requires kidney replacement therapy (KRT) for patient survival.^{1,2}

The age, race, and sex adjusted incidence of ESKD in the United States has increased 46% since 1990, largely due to increases in the prevalence of diabetes and obesity (Figure 1), though the risk of ESKD is not uniform across population subgroups.^{2,3} For example, ESKD incidence is 2.7-times higher among Black vs. white populations,^{4,5} and 1.3-times higher among Hispanic vs. non-Hispanic populations.² ESKD incidence increases with age such that people older than 75 years have a 13-fold increased risk for developing ESKD compared with people aged 18-44 years,² and males are 1.6 times more likely to develop ESKD compared with females.²

Once diagnosed with ESKD, the risk of mortality is high. For example, among patients on hemodialysis, 5-year survival is just 41.4%, and this increases to 84.5% for those who receive a kidney transplant.² Similar to ESKD incidence, ESKD mortality risk is not uniform across the population with the extant literature describing important variations by individual-level factors such as race, sex, underlying cause of ESKD, and socioeconomic status (SES). For example, adult white patients have, on average, higher mortality rates than Black patients.^{2,5} The gap between mortality for white patients and Black patients also increases as age increases.² There are also known sex difference in ESKD mortality, in that females have higher mortality than males.^{6,7} Furthermore, patients with comorbidities, including diabetes and cardiovascular disease, also have a higher risk of death.^{8–10} Cause of ESKD also influences mortality risk, in that those with diabetic-ESKD have higher mortality, compared to those with ESKD from other causes.^{11,12} Mortality is also higher among patients with low (vs. high) income and type of occupation.¹³

Despite a plethora of literature dedicated to understanding the individual-level drivers of ESKD mortality in people, few studies have examined the role that neighborhood-level factors and geographic variation may play.

Geographic variation in end-stage kidney disease in the United States

Geographic variation in ESKD incidence was first described in 1991 by Foxman et al.¹⁴ In this descriptive study of the United States Renal Data System (USRDS) between 1983 and 1988, Foxman et al. identified geographic clusters of high and low ESKD incidence.¹⁴ Regions of high ESKD incidence were found in the Southwest, Southeast, and in counties with a higher proportion of Native American reservations, while regions with low ESKD incidence were found in the West and Northwest. These patterns were similar in whites and nonwhites.¹⁴

Other studies have evaluated geographic variation in ESKD incidence while simultaneously examining demographic and socioeconomic factors that may contribute to this variation. For example, Mathur et al. identified high ESKD incidence rates in the southern and middle Atlantic regions using 2000-2008 data from Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services and the Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network (OPTN) in a population of ESKD patients starting dialysis or pre-emptively placed on the OPTN kidney waitlist.¹⁵ This study noted ESKD incidence was highest in regions with a greater density of Black and Native American people known to have higher rates of ESKD.¹⁵ Volkova et al. identified patients starting KRT in Georgia, North Carolina, and South Carolina between 1998 and 2002 and found that higher neighborhood poverty (defined as the proportion of census tract living below the poverty level) was associated with higher ESKD incidence for both Black and white populations in a dose-response manner.¹⁶ For example, compared to counties with <5% of the population below the poverty level, counties with 5-9.9%, 10-14.9%, 15-19.9%, and >20% of the population below the poverty level had a 1.5, 1.9, 2.6, and 3.0 times higher ESKD incidence rate, respectively. Furthermore, as neighborhood poverty increased, the disparity between ESKD incidence among Black vs. white populations increased, suggesting a significant interaction between poverty and race.¹⁶ To date, no one has examined whether the geographic variation in ESKD incidence translates into geographic disparities in ESKD mortality.

Factors associated with geographic variation in end-stage kidney disease

It is feasible that the risk factors previously identified as factors associated with geographic variation in ESKD incidence – including demographic and socioeconomic factors – may also play a role in ESKD mortality. For example, in a study of mortality in the young adult dialysis population using United States Renal Data System data, lower neighborhood socioeconomic status was found to be associated with higher ESKD-related mortality.¹⁷ Once diagnosed with ESKD, variation in treatment and access to healthcare across geographic regions may also contribute to variation in ESKD mortality. For example, it has previously been shown that dialysis facilities with a greater proportion of patients who receive recommended pre-ESKD care have lower ESKD mortality rates.¹⁸ Treatment centers in the lowest quintile of pre-ESKD care were geographically clustered, notably in Southern states including Alabama and

Mississippi, and were more likely to be in urban (vs. rural) counties that, at the county-level, had larger Black populations and people of lower educational attainment.^{18,19}

There are also well-known geographic disparities in access to kidney transplantation with important implications for mortality. Ashby et al. examined transplant rates using data from over 700,000 patients from 1996-2005 and identified high variability in living donor transplant rates (ranging from 57% lower to 166% higher than the national average) and deceased donor transplant rates (ranging from 60% lower to 150% higher than the national average).²⁰ States with both waitlisting and decreased donor transplant rates below the national average included Arizona, Connecticut, Hawaii, Mississippi, North Carolina, and New Mexico, again largely clustered in the Southern region of the United States.²⁰ Axelrod et al. also examined waitlisting, transplantation, and survival in solid organ transplants in rural versus urban areas between 1999 and 2004 and found substantially lower transplant rates in rural vs. urban residents.²¹

As for community-level characteristics, Schold et al. examined the impact of several community-level risk factors on kidney transplant access and kidney transplant outcomes.²² In this study, researchers calculated a community risk score (range 0-40) for each U.S. county (including measures of the prevalence of comorbidities, access to and quality of healthcare, socioeconomic status, and self-reported physical and mental health) and determined that ESKD patients in the highest-risk communities had higher mortality (adjusted hazard ratio (aHR) 1.22, 95% Confidence Interval (CI):1.16-1.28) and decreased likelihood of living donor transplantation (adjusted odds ratio (aOR) 0.90, 95%CI: 0.85-0.94) compared to patients in lower-risk communities.²² Plantinga et al. examined community-level characteristics related to dialysis facility transplant rates and determined that each standardized increase in the percentage of high school graduates in the community was associated with a 15% higher facility-level

incidence of kidney transplant.²³ On the other hand, for each standardized increase in percentage of Black residents, married residents, unemployed residents, and households living in poverty in the community, there was a 2%, 7%, 3%, and 9% lower facility-level incidence of kidney transplant, respectively.²³

Knowledge gaps

Though several studies have documented geographic variation in ESKD incidence and kidney transplantation and identified some factors associated with this variation, no-one to date has examined geographic variation in ESKD mortality. This is likely owing to the need for large, national datasets with multiple of years of data to conduct such an analysis. Estimating geographic variation and identifying county-level factors associated with ESKD mortality may lead to the development of social, economic, and healthcare-based interventions to decrease ESKD-mortality and geographic disparities. Several similar studies have been conducted in cardiovascular disease,²⁴ diabetes,²⁵ cancer,²⁶ and drug-related mortalities.²⁷ Using a similar approach, this thesis will explore geographic variation in ESKD-mortality and identify the county-level demographic, socioeconomic, health care, and health behavior characteristics that may explain this variation.

Study aims

Using a national registry of ESKD patients receiving kidney replacement therapy (KRT), this study examines county-level variation in ESKD mortality and identifies county-level risk factors underpinning this variation. Specifically, we will: 1) describe the county-level distribution of age-standardized ESKD mortality rates throughout the United States

2) examine the county-level demographic characteristics, socioeconomic characteristics, health care characteristics, and health behavior characteristics associated with county-level variation in ESKD mortality.

Identifying county-level factors and geographic 'hot spots' associated with high ESKDrelated mortality may be an important first step in designing and developing community-level interventions designed to reduce ESKD mortality.

Methods

Data sources

In this study, we combined county-level age-standardized ESKD-related mortality rates, estimated from the United States Renal Data System (USRDS) and described below, with several county-level characteristics, determined from multiple publicly available sources including the United States Census Bureau, the American Community Survey, the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, and Medicare, as described in **Table 1**, to create an ecological cross-sectional dataset. In all, 16 (73%) of these measures were accessed via the County Health Rankings and Roadmaps project,²⁸ 5 (23%) were accessed through the Area Health Resource File,²⁹ and 1 (5%) was accessed through the Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care.³⁰ Use of USRDS data was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Emory University (IRB00063645). All other data is publicly available and thus exempt from institutional review board approval.

Study population

County-level ESKD-related mortality was estimated from the USRDS. The USRDS is a national registry of all U.S. patients with ESKD initiating kidney replacement therapy (KRT).² The current study included all prevalent ESKD patients aged 18-84 between Jan 1, 2010 and Aug 23, 2018. We excluded patients with missing information on date of KRT initiation (n=4,321), date of birth (n=28), or county (n=1,610), those outside ages 18-84 (n=94,435), and those who died on the same day as KRT initiation (n=540). We also excluded patients who resided in counties, defined using the Federal Information Processing Standard (FIPS) code, with <10 deaths (n=319 counties) and in counties defined as U.S. territories, counties whose FIPS code have changed, or FIPS codes that are not county-specific (n=194 counties). The final study included 1,516,742 patients representing 2,807 counties (Figure 2).

Mortality ascertainment

Mortality data in the USRDS is augmented by Social Security Death Master File data to the extent allowed by regulation. Further, universal reporting of ESKD patient deaths as well as date of death is required via Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS) form 2746 as a condition of coverage for dialysis units and transplant centers.

County-level characteristics

County-level characteristics included in this study are described in **Table 1**. In brief, we considered four sets of characteristics to understand the contributions of county-level demographic, socioeconomic, health care, and health behavior characteristics to the variation in

county-level ESKD-related mortality. For each variable, we included the most contemporaneously available data.

Statistical analyses

Individuals with ESKD were followed from date of KRT initiation, until date of death or end of follow-up (Aug 23, 2018), whichever occurred first. County-level ESKD-related mortality rates were defined as the number of deaths per 1,000 person-years per county and were agestandardized to the 2000 U.S. population³¹ using age groups (18-44, 45-64, 65-74, and 75-84) and the direct method of standardization to calculate county-level ESKD-related agestandardized mortality rates (ASMR).

County-level characteristics were described using mean \pm standard deviation. We standardized county-level characteristics to have a mean of 0 and standard deviation of 1 so we could compare associations of county characteristics with mortality. We quantified the correlation between each county characteristics and county-level ESKD-related ASMRs. To avoid collinearity, when two similar characteristics had a correlation r > 0.8 or a variation inflation factor > 5, one variable was selected to include in regression models to avoid collinearity (**Tables S1 and S2**).³² We used hierarchical linear mixed models to estimate the association between county-level characteristics and ESKD-related ASMRs, in which counties were the level-1 unit and states were the level-2 unit with a random intercept. The purpose of allowing each state to have its own intercept was to eliminate the effect of state-level features that influence mortality and to account for clustering within states.

We sequentially fit four models by adding categories of county characteristics beginning with nonmodifiable demographic characteristics followed by socioeconomic characteristics, health care characteristics, and health behavior characteristics. Coefficients in the final model are interpreted as the association between each county-level characteristic and county-level ESKD ASMR, adjusting for all other county-level characteristics. We applied a Bonferroni correction to adjust for multiple testing and calculated the proportion of variance in county-level ESKDrelated ASMRs explained by each set of county characteristics.

To examine state-level variation in ESKD-related ASMRs we estimated the random effect for each state in both a null model and in a final, fully adjusted model, including all non-collinear county-level characteristics. By comparing the random intercepts, we explored the extent to which county-level characteristics accounted for state-level variation in county-level ESKD-related ASMRs. In the null model, the random intercepts represent state deviation from the national mean county-level ESKD-related ASMR. In fully adjusted models, the random intercepts represent state deviation from the national mean county-level ESKD-related ASMR that is not explained by other county-level characteristics. All analyses were conducted using R software (version 4.0.2).

Results

Among 2,807 counties (representing 1,516,742 ESKD patients), the average ESKD ASMR between 2010 and 2018 was 79.1 (SD=25.8) per 1,000 person-years (PY) and ranged from 25.1 to 509.0 per 1,000 PY (Figure 3). In general, higher ESKD ASMRs were seen among counties located in the Appalachia region, the Tennessee Valley, and the South, including Arkansas, Oklahoma, and Louisiana. Lower ESKD ASMRs were seen in counties located in New England, the upper Midwest, and along the West coast (in Washington state and southern California). **Table 2** shows the distribution of the demographic, socioeconomic, health care, and health behavior characteristics of the 2,807 counties included in the analysis. On average, the county-level proportions of people aged over 65, Black people, and people living in a rural area was 18.9%, 9.9%, and 54.8%, respectively. Further, the average county-level proportion of people unemployed, of low education, and without health insurance was 4.2%, 13.7%, and 11.1%, respectively. In addition, 64.0% and 17.7% of residents in the average county did not have access to exercise opportunities and smoked, respectively.

Table 3 shows crude and adjusted associations between county-level characteristics and ESKD ASMR. All independent variables were standardized; therefore, coefficients represent the average change in ESKD deaths per 1,000 person-years for each 1-standard-deviation increase in a county characteristic. In crude associations, the county-level characteristics most strongly associated with ESKD mortality were higher percentage current smokers (7.26/1,000PY), lower median income level (-6.68/1,000PY), lower percentage with excessive alcohol usage (-6.51/1,000 PY), and higher percentage living in a rural area (6.38 /1,000PY).

In fully adjusted models, county-level factors significantly and negatively associated with ESKD-related ASMR were the percentage of Black residents (-5.33/1,000 PY), percentage of the county residents who consumed excessive alcohol (-2.99/1,000 PY). In the same model, the only county-level factor significantly and positively associated with ESKD-mortality was health care expenditure (3.76/1,000 PY).

Overall, county-level characteristics explained 19.4% of the variation in county-level ESKD-related ASMR (**Table 3**). Demographic characteristics alone explained 7.6% of the variation (model 1) and adding economic and social characteristics explained an additional 4.9% of the variation (model 2). Including health care characteristics explained an additional 3.7%

(model 3) and including health behavior characteristics explained an additional 3.2% (model 4), for a collective total of 19.4%.

Figure 4 shows state-level variation in ESKD-related ASMRs and illustrates changes in state deviation from the national mean county-level ESKD-related ASMR before and after adjustment for county-level characteristics. Before adjustment, state-level variation ranged from -12.8 per 1,000 PY in Minnesota to 21.0 per 1,000 PY in Kentucky, a difference of 33.8 per 1,000 PY. After adjustment, state-level variation ranged from -4.9 per 1,000 PY in Minnesota to 4.4 per 1,000 PY in Idaho, a difference of 9.3 per 1,000 PY. Thus, adjusting for county-level characteristics reduced the difference between the lowest and highest state intercepts by more than two-thirds. For most states, county-level characteristics reduced or eliminated state deviation from the national mean county-level ESKD-related ASMR.

Discussion

In this study, we report for the first-time substantial variation in county-level ESKD mortality rates across the United States, with a 20-fold difference in the county with the highest vs. lowest ESKD-related ASMR. ESKD mortality rates were highest in counties in the Southern and Appalachian regions of the United States, and lowest in counties along the East and West coasts, and in the upper Midwest. In fully adjusted models, county-level factors significantly associated with higher ESKD-related ASMRs were a lower proportion of Black people, higher health care expenditures, and lower proportion of excessive drinkers. Overall, we found that county-level characteristics explained 19.4% of variation in ESKD-related ASMRs.

Comparison to previous literature

Our results are similar to previous studies of geographic variation in ESKD incidence. In studies such as Foxman et al. and Mathur et al., regions with highest ESKD incidence (e.g., Southeast) and lowest ESKD incidence (e.g., West and Northwest) were similar to those for ESKD mortality in the current study.^{14,15} In these studies of ESKD incidence, authors identified factors including racial composition (including large populations of Native American or Black people) and higher neighborhood to be associated with ESKD incidence poverty, although these factors differ from those identified in this study.^{14–16} In studies of access to kidney transplantation, a key driver of mortality rates in ESKD, studies showed that population-level characteristics including low education, rurality, and unemployment are associated with reduced access.^{21–23} However, in the current study, most demographic, socioeconomic, health care, and health behavior characteristics were not significantly associated with county-level ESKD-related ASMR was explained by county-level demographic, socioeconomic, health care, and health behavior characteristics.

In this study, three factors were significantly associated with higher ESKD mortality rates in fully adjusted models. First, counties with a lower percentage of Black residents had lower ESKD-related ASMRs. This is perhaps a surprising finding given the well documented literature that Black populations, in general, have higher mortality rates as compared with White populations.^{33,34} However, in ESKD, the opposite is true.^{35–37} This so-called survival paradox has been previously described, and reasons postulated include: the younger age at which Black patients develop ESKD compared to white patients, reducing overall mortality rates;³⁸ a survival bias among Black ESKD patients who make it to KRT;³⁵ lower transplant rates in Black patients that artificially inflates the survival advantage of those on dialysis as well as transplant recipients, as they are a highly select population;^{2,39} and higher body mass index (BMI) in Black adults (vs. white adults) mirroring the well-known obesity paradox whereby higher BMIs tend to have lower mortality rates.³⁸ While previous literature has examined this survival paradox at the individual-level, our results imply it may also hold true at the county-level.

Second, we found that an increase in the percentage of a county's population who drink excessively is associated with a decrease in ESKD mortality, an unexpected finding. Results from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities study, a community-based cohort study from four sites in the United States, suggests low or moderate alcohol consumption may be associated with a lower risk of CKD, compared to never drinkers.⁴⁰ Yet, a larger body of literature suggests that alcohol, particularly excessive alcohol consumption, may be a risk factor for CKD and subsequent ESKD.^{41,42} It is therefore more plausible that high excessive drinking operates as a competing risk for ESKD-related mortality as excessive drinkers may die from other causes (e.g., liver disease, cardiovascular disease) before dying from ESKD.

Third, we show that higher health care expenditures were associated with higher ESKD mortality. In this study, health care expenditure was defined as average Medicare spending per enrollee in each county. All ESKD patients are eligible for Medicare coverage and thus a higher county-level Medicare expenditure may simply reflect a higher disease severity or burden. Further, increased healthcare expenditure does not necessarily indicate higher quality care or better access to care, but rather indicates regional differences in patterns of practice, such as more frequent physician visits, greater use of medical subspecialists, and more discretionary care.^{43,44} This pattern has been demonstrated in other studies whereby increased Medicare spending was associated with increased mortality for diabetic patients with foot ulcers and

amputations,⁴⁵ as well as patients with colorectal cancer.⁴⁶ Thus, given the Medicare coverage available to all ESKD patients, we postulate that increased Medicare spending in this study most likely reflects the increased county-level burden of ESKD.

Public health implications

In our study, we show that $\sim 20\%$ of the county-level variation in ESKD mortality is explained by county-level characteristics. In contrast to studies of other chronic diseases, this is a relatively small contribution. For example, in Patel et al. and Cunningham et al., county-level characteristics explained ~75% and ~42% of the variation in cardiovascular mortality and diabetes incidence, respectively.^{24,25} The largest contributors to variation in cardiovascular disease mortality were county-level median income and education,²⁴ while variation in diabetes incidence was driven predominately by unemployment, poverty, and access to exercise opportunities and healthy foods.²⁵ The small contribution of county-level factors to the variation in ESKD-mortality may be explained by the fact that ESKD-mortality, compared to CVD mortality and diabetes incidence, is extremely rare, and so it is possible that population-level factors may not play a significant role. Compared to cardiovascular disease - whereby 48% of the population is affected⁴⁷ – only 0.2% of people have ESKD.² In 2016, over 840,000 people died from cardiovascular disease,⁴⁷ compared to just over 100,000 deaths from ESKD.² Taken together, this suggests that efforts to reduce ESKD-mortality may be more effective if targeted to the individual, rather than the broader population. Regardless, efforts to reduce ESKD incidence and subsequent mortality should consider the regional variations in the design and implementation of interventions to reduce geographic disparities.

Strengths and limitations

The key strengths of this study include the use of a large national registry of ESKD patients receiving KRT to estimate county-level ESKD mortality rates in the United States and the use of aggregated data from multiple sources to describe the impact of several county-level factors. However, there are several limitations that should also be considered. First, this is an ecological study (i.e., assessing the association between county-level risk factors and county-level ESKD-related mortality) and results cannot be extrapolated to the individual level. Second, the use of county averages, as was done in this study, does not account for variations within counties. Data at levels lower than the county (i.e., census tracts) are not available in USRDS. Third, to ensure adequate power to examine county-level ESKD-mortality, a rare outcome, we pooled ESKD mortality rates between 2010 and 2018, which may not reflect the most contemporary ESKD mortality rates. Regardless, we expect relative differences between counties to have remained relatively stable in this eight-year period. Last, there may be residual confounding by county-level characteristics not included in this analysis, such as the number of dialysis facilities, available organs, or transplant centers and surgeons.

Conclusion

In this national U.S. study, we demonstrate substantial variation in ESKD mortality across counties, and report that ~20% of this variation is explained by county-level characteristics, in particular percentage of Black people, percentage of people who drink excessively, and health care expenditures. Given that a large proportion of county-level variation (~80%) is unexplained, targeted vs. population-wide interventions may play a more important role in reducing ESKD mortality. Regardless, future studies are warranted to explore the substantial geographic variations in ESKD mortality and to develop interventions to mitigate these disparities that consider regional variations in ESKD mortality.

References

- 1. Chronic Kidney Disease in the United States, 2019. Published March 13, 2019. Accessed September 7, 2020. https://www.cdc.gov/kidneydisease/publications-resources/2019-national-facts.html
- 2. United States Renal Data System. 2020 USRDS Annual Data Report: Epidemiology of kidney disease in the United States. National Institutes of Health, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, Bethesda, MD, 2020.
- McCullough KP, Morgenstern H, Saran R, Herman WH, Robinson BM. Projecting ESRD Incidence and Prevalence in the United States through 2030. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2019;30(1):127-135. doi:10.1681/ASN.2018050531
- Evans K, Coresh J, Bash LD, et al. Race differences in access to health care and disparities in incident chronic kidney disease in the US. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. 2011;26(3):899-908. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfq473
- Rostand SG, Kirk KA, Rutsky EA, Pate BA. Racial differences in the incidence of treatment for end-stage renal disease. *N Engl J Med.* 1982;306(21):1276-1279. doi:10.1056/NEJM198205273062106
- Villar E, Remontet L, Labeeuw M, Ecochard R. Effect of Age, Gender, and Diabetes on Excess Death in End-Stage Renal Failure. *J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2007;18(7):2125-2134. doi:10.1681/ASN.2006091048
- 7. Jindal RM, Ryan JJ, Sajjad I, Murthy MH, Baines LS. Kidney transplantation and gender disparity. *Am J Nephrol*. 2005;25(5):474-483. doi:10.1159/000087920
- Goodkin DA. Association of Comorbid Conditions and Mortality in Hemodialysis Patients in Europe, Japan, and the United States: The Dialysis Outcomes and Practice Patterns Study (DOPPS). *J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2003;14(12):3270-3277. doi:10.1097/01.ASN.0000100127.54107.57
- Beddhu S, Zeidel ML, Saul M, et al. The effects of comorbid conditions on the outcomes of patients undergoing peritoneal dialysis. *Am J Med.* 2002;112(9):696-701. doi:10.1016/S0002-9343(02)01097-5
- Keane WF, Collins AJ. Influence of co-morbidity on mortality and morbidity in patients treated with hemodialysis. *Am J Kidney Dis Off J Natl Kidney Found*. 1994;24(6):1010-1018. doi:10.1016/s0272-6386(12)81076-6
- Pena Batista PB, Lopes AA, Costa FA. Association Between Attributed Cause of End-Stage Renal Disease and Risk of Death in Brazilian Patients Receiving Renal Replacement Therapy. *Ren Fail*. 2005;27(6):651-656. doi:10.1080/08860220500234832

- 12. Al Wakeel JS, Mitwalli AH, Al Mohaya S, et al. Morbidity and mortality in ESRD patients on dialysis. *Saudi J Kidney Dis Transplant Off Publ Saudi Cent Organ Transplant Saudi Arab*. 2002;13(4):473-477.
- Tao S, Zeng X, Liu J, Fu P. Socioeconomic status and mortality among dialysis patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int Urol Nephrol.* 2019;51(3):509-518. doi:10.1007/s11255-019-02078-5
- Foxman B, Moulton LH, Wolfe RA, Guire KE, Port FK, Hawthorne VM. Geographic variation in the incidence of treated end-stage renal disease. *J Am Soc Nephrol*. 1991;2(6):1144-1152.
- 15. Mathur AK, Ashby VB, Sands RL, Wolfe RA. Geographic variation in end-stage renal disease incidence and access to deceased donor kidney transplantation. Am J Transplant Off J Am Soc Transplant Am Soc Transpl Surg. 2010;10(4 Pt 2):1069-1080. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2010.03043.x
- 16. Volkova N, McClellan W, Klein M, et al. Neighborhood Poverty and Racial Differences in ESRD Incidence. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2008;19(2):356-364. doi:10.1681/ASN.2006080934
- Johns TS, Estrella MM, Crews DC, et al. Neighborhood Socioeconomic Status, Race, and Mortality in Young Adult Dialysis Patients. *J Am Soc Nephrol*. 2014;25(11):2649-2657. doi:10.1681/ASN.2013111207
- McClellan WM, Wasse H, McClellan AC, Kipp A, Waller LA, Rocco MV. Treatment Center and Geographic Variability in Pre-ESRD Care Associate with Increased Mortality. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2009;20(5):1078-1085. doi:10.1681/ASN.2008060624
- 19. Hao H, Lovasik BP, Pastan SO, Chang HH, Chowdhury R, Patzer RE. Geographic variation and neighborhood factors are associated with low rates of pre-end-stage renal disease nephrology care. *Kidney Int.* 2015;88(3):614-621. doi:10.1038/ki.2015.118
- 20. Ashby VB, Kalbfleisch JD, Wolfe RA, Lin MJ, Port FK, Leichtman AB. Geographic variability in access to primary kidney transplantation in the United States, 1996-2005. Am J Transplant Off J Am Soc Transplant Am Soc Transpl Surg. 2007;7(5 Pt 2):1412-1423. doi:10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.01785.x
- Axelrod DA, Guidinger MK, Finlayson S, et al. Rates of Solid-Organ Wait-listing, Transplantation, and Survival Among Residents of Rural and Urban Areas. *JAMA*. 2008;299(2):202-207. doi:10.1001/jama.2007.50
- 22. Schold JD, Heaphy ELG, Buccini LD, et al. Prominent impact of community risk factors on kidney transplant candidate processes and outcomes. *Am J Transplant Off J Am Soc Transplant Am Soc Transpl Surg*. 2013;13(9):2374-2383. doi:10.1111/ajt.12349
- Plantinga L, Pastan S, Kramer M, McClellan A, Krisher J, Patzer RE. Association of U.S. Dialysis facility neighborhood characteristics with facility-level kidney transplantation. *Am J Nephrol.* 2014;40(2):164-173. doi:10.1159/000365596

- Patel SA, Ali MK, Narayan KMV, Mehta NK. County-Level Variation in Cardiovascular Disease Mortality in the United States in 2009–2013: Comparative Assessment of Contributing Factors. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2016;184(12):933-942. doi:10.1093/aje/kww081
- 25. Cunningham SA, Patel SA, Beckles GL, et al. County-level Contextual Factors Associated with Diabetes Incidence in the United States. *Ann Epidemiol*. 2018;28(1):20-25.e2. doi:10.1016/j.annepidem.2017.11.002
- 26. Rogers CR, Moore JX, Qeadan F, Gu LY, Huntington MS, Holowatyj AN. Examining factors underlying geographic disparities in early-onset colorectal cancer survival among men in the United States. *Am J Cancer Res.* 2020;10(5):1592-1607.
- 27. Monnat SM. Factors Associated With County-Level Differences in U.S. Drug-Related Mortality Rates. *Am J Prev Med.* 2018;54(5):611-619. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2018.01.040
- 28. University of Wisconsin Population Health Institute. County Health Rankings & Roadmaps 2020. Accessed April 26, 2021. https://www.countyhealthrankings.org
- 29. Health Resources and Services Administration, US Department of Health and Human Services. Area Health Resource File (AHRF) 2019–2020 Release. Accessed April 26, 2021. https://data.hrsa.gov/data/download
- 30. Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care. Medicare Reimbursements. Accessed April 26, 2021. https://data.dartmouthatlas.org/medicare-reimbursements/
- 31. Klein RJ, Schoenborn CA. Age Adjustment Using the 2000 Projected U.S. Population. *Healthy People Stat Notes*. 2001;20. doi:10.1037/e583772012-001
- Vatcheva KP, Lee M, McCormick JB, Rahbar MH. Multicollinearity in Regression Analyses Conducted in Epidemiologic Studies. *Epidemiol Sunnyvale Calif.* 2016;6(2). doi:10.4172/2161-1165.1000227
- Cunningham TJ, Croft JB, Liu Y, Lu H, Eke PI, Giles WH. Vital Signs: Racial Disparities in Age-Specific Mortality Among Blacks or African Americans — United States, 1999–2015. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2017;66(17):444-456. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6617e1
- 34. Shah NS, Lloyd-Jones DM, O'Flaherty M, et al. Trends in Cardiometabolic Mortality in the United States, 1999-2017. *JAMA*. 2019;322(8):780-782. doi:10.1001/jama.2019.9161
- 35. Kalantar-Zadeh K, Kovesdy CP, Derose SF, Horwich TB, Fonarow GC. Racial and survival paradoxes in chronic kidney disease. *Nat Clin Pract Nephrol*. 2007;3(9):493-506. doi:10.1038/ncpneph0570
- 36. Kovesdy CP, Quarles LD, Lott EH, et al. Survival Advantage in Black Versus White Men With CKD: Effect of Estimated GFR and Case Mix. Am J Kidney Dis. 2013;62(2):228-235. doi:10.1053/j.ajkd.2012.12.012

- 37. Held PJ, Pauly MV, Diamond L. Survival analysis of patients undergoing dialysis. *JAMA*. 1987;257(5):645-650.
- Agodoa L, Eggers P. CARDIOVASCULAR AND SURVIVAL PARADOXES IN DIALYSIS PATIENTS: Racial and Ethnic Disparities in End-Stage Kidney Failure— Survival Paradoxes in African-Americans. *Semin Dial*. 2007;20(6):577-585. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-139X.2007.00350.x
- 39. Saunders MR, Lee H, Alexander GC, Tak HJ, Thistlethwaite, Jr. JR, Ross LF. Racial disparities in reaching the renal transplant waitlist: is geography as important as race? *Clin Transplant*. 2015;29(6):531-538. doi:10.1111/ctr.12547
- 40. Hu EA, Lazo M, Rosenberg SD, et al. Alcohol consumption and incident kidney disease: Results from the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. *J Ren Nutr Off J Counc Ren Nutr Natl Kidney Found*. 2020;30(1):22-30. doi:10.1053/j.jrn.2019.01.011
- Pan C-S, Ju TR, Lee CC, et al. Alcohol use disorder tied to development of chronic kidney disease: A nationwide database analysis. *PloS One*. 2018;13(9):e0203410. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0203410
- 42. Perneger TV, Whelton PK, Puddey IB, Klag MJ. Risk of End-stage Renal Disease Associated with Alcohol Consumption. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1999;150(12):1275-1281. doi:10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a009958
- 43. Baicker K, Chandra A. Medicare Spending, The Physician Workforce, And Beneficiaries' Quality Of Care. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2004;23(Suppl1):W4-184. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.W4.184
- 44. Fisher ES, Wennberg DE, Stukel TA, Gottlieb DJ, Lucas FL, Pinder EL. The implications of regional variations in Medicare spending. Part 1: the content, quality, and accessibility of care. Ann Intern Med. 2003;138(4):273-287. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-138-4-200302180-00006
- 45. Sargen MR, Hoffstad O, Margolis DJ. Geographic variation in Medicare spending and mortality for diabetic patients with foot ulcers and amputations. *J Diabetes Complications*. 2013;27(2):128-133. doi:10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2012.09.003
- 46. Landrum MB, Meara ER, Chandra A, Guadagnoli E, Keating NL. Is Spending More Always Wasteful? The Appropriateness Of Care And Outcomes Among Colorectal Cancer Patients. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. 2008;27(1):159-168. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.27.1.159
- 47. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2019 Update: A Report From the American Heart Association. doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000000659

Tables and Figures

Table 1. Definitions of county-level characteristics and data sources

Variable	Definition	Source	Year
Demographic			
Population size (N, in thousands)	County population	Census Population Estimates	2018
Female (%)	Percentage of the population who	Census Population	2018
Aged \geq 65 years (%)	Percentage of population ages 65 and older	Estimates Census Population Estimates	2018
Hispanic (%)	Percentage of population who are Hispanic	Census Population Estimates	2018
Asian-American (%)	Percentage of the population who are Asian-American	Census Population Estimates	2018
Black (%)	Percentage of the population who are Black/African American	Census Population Estimates	2018
Native American/Alaskan Native (%)	Percentage of the population who are Native American/ Alaskan	Census Population Estimates	2018
Foreign born (%)	Percentage of the population who	American	2014-
	are foreign born	Community Survey	2018
Not proficient in	Percentage of the population who	American	2014-
English (%)	are not proficient in English	Community Survey	2018
Rural (%)	Percentage of the population living in a rural area	Census Population Estimates	2010
Economic/social			
Income level (median, \$ in thousands)	Median income level	Small Area Income and Poverty Estimates	2018
Unemployed (%)	Percentage of residents aged 16–64 vears who are unemployed	Bureau of Labor Statistics	2018
Without high school	Percentage of residents aged 24–65	American	2014-
education (%)	years without a high school	Community Survey	2018
In poverty (%)	Percentage of population living in poverty	Small Area Income and Poverty Estimates	2018
Health care	1		
Primary care physicians (N, per 100,000)	Number of primary care physicians per 100,000 population	American Medical Association	2018

Internal medicine subspecialists (N, per 100,000)	Number of internal medicine subspecialists per 100,000 population, including nephrologists	American Medical Association	2018
Without health insurance (%)	Percentage of persons aged 40–64 years without health insurance	Small Area Health Insurance Estimates	2017
Health-care	County-level price-, age-, sex-, and	Centers for Medicare	2018
expenditures (\$ in	race/ethnicity- adjusted Medicare	& Medicaid Services	
thousands)	expenditures per enrollee		
Health behaviors			
Access to exercise	Percentage of the county population	Business Analyst,	2010
opportunities	residing within one-half mile (0.8	Delorme map data,	&
	km) of a park or within 1 mile (1.6	ESRI, & US Census	2019
	km) (urban) or 3 miles (4.8 km) (rural) of a recreational facility	Tigerline File	
Food environment	Food availability index, a composite	USDA Food	2015
index	score (ranging from 1 to 10)	Environment Atlas,	&
	describing limits on access to	Map the Meal Gap	2017
	healthy foods and food insecurity	from Feeding America	
Current smoking (%)	Percent of adults that reported	Behavioral Risk	2017
	currently smoking	Factor Surveillance	
		System	
Excessive drinking	Percent of adults that report	Behavioral Risk	2017
(%)	excessive drinking	Factor Surveillance	
		System	

County Characteristic	Mean (SD) ¹	Range
Demographic		
Population size (N, in thousands)	116.0 (350.9)	1.6 - 10105.5
Female (%)	50.0 (2.1)	31.5 - 56.9
Aged \geq 65 years (%)	18.9 (4.4)	4.8 - 57.6
Hispanic (%)	9.5 (13.9)	0.6 - 96.4
Asian-American (%)	1.6 (2.9)	0.0 - 43.0
Black (%)	9.9 (14.8)	0.1 - 85.4
Native American/Alaskan Native (%)	2.1 (6.8)	0.1 - 85.7
Foreign born (%)	4.8 (5.7)	0.0 - 53.3
Not proficient in English (%)	1.7 (2.8)	0.0 - 30.4
Rural (%)	54.8 (30.2)	0.0 - 100.0
Economic/social		
Income level (median, \$ in thousands)	52.7 (14.1)	25.4 - 140.4
Unemployed (%)	4.2 (1.4)	1.5 - 18.1
Without high school education (%)	13.7 (6.2)	1.2 - 48.5
In poverty (%)	15.4 (6.2)	2.6 - 48.4
Health care		
Primary care physicians (N, per 100,000)	52.5 (33.8)	0.0 - 559.2
Internal medicine subspecialists (N, per 100,000)	6.6 (14.8)	0.0 - 350.9
Without health insurance (%)	11.1 (5.0)	2.3 - 33.8
Health-care expenditures ($\$$ in thousands) ²	10.4 (1.4)	5.5 - 18.4
Health behaviors		
Access to exercise opportunities $(\%)^3$	64.0 (22.2)	0.0 - 100.0
Food environment index ⁴	7.5 (1.1)	0.0 - 10.0
Current smoking (%)	17.7 (3.5)	5.9 - 41.5
Excessive drinking (%)	17.4 (3.2)	7.8 - 28.6

 Table 2. Summary of U.S. county-level characteristics among 2,807 counties included in this analysis

¹ Mean and standard deviation (SD) of counts, proportions, medians, or indices, as appropriate

² County-level price-, age-, sex-, and race/ethnicity- adjusted Medicare expenditures per enrollee, in thousands of dollars

³ Percentage of the county population residing within one-half mile (0.8 km) of a park or within 1 mile (1.6 km) (urban) or 3 miles (4.8 km) (rural) of a recreational facility

⁴ Food environment index, a composite score (ranging from 1 to 10) describing limits on access to healthy foods and food insecurity; 19 counties were missing data

County Characteristic	stic Bivariate Associations ²			1	Model	2	Model	3	Model 4		
	Coeff	95% CI	Coeff	95% CI	Coeff	95% CI	Coeff	95% CI	Coeff	95% CI	
Demographic											
Population size (N, in thousands)	-3.37	-4.31, -2.43	-0.41	-1.92, 1.09	-0.10	-1.63, 1.43	-0.73	-2.33, 0.85	-0.46	-2.09, 1.16	
Female (%)	-1.81	-2.75, -0.89	-0.60	-1.97, 0.77	-0.10	-1.49, 1.30	-0.08	-1.50, 1.35	-0.56	-2.07, 0.94	
Aged ≥ 65 years (%)	3.36	2.42, 4.29	0.13	-1.50, 1.75	-1.04	-2.79, 0.71	-0.32	-2.16, 1.50	-0.40	-2.43, 1.59	
Hispanic (%)	-3.05	-4.32, -1.78	-0.31	-3.23, 2.61	-1.94	-4.88, 0.99	-1.48	-4.38, 1.43	-0.96	-3.89, 2.00	
Asian-American (%)	-4.83	-5.83, -3.83	-1.99	-3.70, -0.29	-0.08	-1.88, 1.73	0.46	-1.38, 2.33	0.17	-1.70, 2.08	
Black (%)	-2.72	-3.97, -1.45	-1.36	-3.12, 0.41	-3.82	-5.74, -1.89	-3.58	-5.53, -1.66	-5.33	-7.53, -3.17	
Native American/Alaskan Native (%)	1.22	0.26, 2.18	1.20	-0.26, 2.65	0.05	-1.48, 1.57	-0.16	-1.84, 1.49	-1.26	-3.13, 0.59	
Not proficient in English (%)	-3.07	-4.12, -2.03	-0.68	-3.13, 1.77	-2.67	-5.39, 0.03	-2.56	-5.43, 0.24	-1.96	-4.85, 0.86	
Rural (%)	6.38	5.45, 7.31	4.65	2.89, 6.41	2.81	0.87, 4.73	2.05	-0.07, 4.13	1.78	-0.69, 4.16	
Economic/social											
Income level (median, \$ in thousands)	-6.68	-7.68, -5.68			-4.10	-6.28, -1.91	-3.68	-5.92, -1.43	-1.69	-4.40, 1.08	
Unemployed (%)	3.38	2.30, 4.45			0.44	-1.38, 2.26	0.50	-1.39, 2.42	-0.06	-1.99, 1.91	
Without high school education (%)	4.50	3.41, 5.61			3.72	1.11, 6.40	2.34	-0.51, 5.05	1.04	-1.94, 4.12	
Health care											
Primary care physicians (N, per 100.000)	-4.60	-5.55, -3.67					-1.32	-3.38, 0.71	-1.14	-3.26, 0.96	
Internal medicine subspecialists (N. per 100,000)	-3.63	-4.54, -2.72					0.26	-1.61, 2.13	0.26	-1.65, 2.17	
Without health insurance (%)	5.53	3.84, 7.21					1.58	-1.44, 4.56	0.99	-1.77, 3.74	
Health-care expenditures (\$ in thousands)	5.56	4.40, 6.74					4.06	2.34, 5.80	3.76	2.03, 5.52	
Health behaviors											
Access to exercise opportunities	-5.41	-6.40, -4.44							-0.75	-2.74, 1.22	
Food environment index ³	-2.95	-4.03, -1.89							-1.78	-4.24, 0.65	
Current smoking (%)	7.26	6.06, 8.46							2.32	-0.65, 5.27	
Excessive drinking (%)	-6.51	-7.88, -5.14							-2.99	-5.46, -0.50	
Marginal variance modeled ⁴		,	7.6%		12.5%		16.2%		19.4%	,	

Table 3. Associations of U.S. county-level characteristics with end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) mortality, 2010-2018¹

Abbreviations: Coeff, coefficient; CI, confidence interval

Bolded coefficients and confidence intervals indicate p < 0.05

¹ We modeled age-standardized county-level ESKD mortality rates per 1,000 person-years using four sequential linear regression models with county-level characteristics, so that model 1 includes demographic characteristics, model 2 includes model 1 characteristics plus economic and social characteristics, model 3 includes model 2 characteristics plus health care characteristics, and model 4 includes model 3 characteristics plus health behavior characteristics

² Coefficients for bivariate associations are from linear regression models and indicate the change in county-level ESKD mortality per 1,000 person-years associated with a 1-standard-deviation increase in each county-level characteristic

³ Missing data: n=19 for food environment index

⁴ The marginal variance modeled is the percentage of variation in ESKD mortality explained by the contribution of the county-level characteristics, including only the fixed effects



Figure 1. Trends in age, race, and sex adjusted end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) incidence, 1990-2018.²



Figure 2. Flowchart of study cohort



Figure 3. Age-standardized end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) mortality rates across 2,807 counties in the United States, 2010-2018. Mapped rates were obtained from the United States Renal Data System. Rates for counties with fewer than 10 deaths were suppressed. Alaska and Hawaii have been shifted and are not to scale.



Figure 4. State-level intercepts for age-standardized end-stage kidney disease (ESKD) mortality rates before and after adjustment for county-level characteristics in 2,807 counties in the United States, 2010-2018. The plot shows model intercepts in the unadjusted model (null model) and in the adjusted model (adjusted for all county-level characteristics). Mortality rates were obtained from the United States Renal Data System.

Supplementary Files

County Characteristic	Variance Inflation
	Factor
Population size (N, in thousands)	1.53
Female (%)	1.31
Aged \geq 65 years (%)	2.28
Hispanic (%)	3.42
Asian-American (%)	2.90
Black (%)	2.05
Native American/Alaskan Native (%)	1.85
Foreign born (%)	11.83
Not proficient in English (%)	9.71
Rural (%)	3.18
Income level (median, \$ in thousands)	5.40
Unemployed (%)	1.82
Without high school education (%)	4.33
In poverty (%)	5.89
Primary care physicians (N, per 100,000)	2.43
Internal medicine subspecialists (N, per 100,000)	2.08
Without health insurance (%)	2.19
Health-care expenditures (\$ in thousands)	1.29
Access to exercise opportunities (%)	2.05
Food environment index	3.04
Current smoking (%)	3.62
Excessive drinking (%)	2.13

Table S1. Variance inflation factors for county characteristics

		V1	V2	V3	V4	V5	V6	V7	V8	V9	V10	V11	V12	V13	V14	V15	V16	V17	V18	V19	V20	V21	V22
V1	Population size (N,																						
	in thousands)	1.00																					
V2	Female (%)	.11	1.00																				
V3	Aged > 65 years																						
	(%)	- 22	.08	1.00																			
V4	Hispanic (%)	21	- 15	- 26	1.00																		
V5	Asian-American			.20	1100																		
	(%)	50	08	- 29	18	1.00																	
V6	(70) Black (%)	.50	.00	- 16	- 11	01	1.00																
V7	Nativo	.00	.17	10	11	.01	1.00																
• /	American/Alaskan																						
	Mative (0/)	04	02	11	02	05	11	1.00															
170	Native (76)	04	05	11	.02	05	11	1.00	1.00														
V O VO	Not une finient in	.51	05	34	.08	.04	02	00	1.00														
V9	Not proficient in $E_{n-1}(0/2)$	22	10	21	02	24	04	01	07	1.00													
\$710	English (%)	.32	10	31	.82	.54	04	01	.87	1.00	1.00												
V 10	Rural (%)	40	1/	.45	32	4/	06	.10	53	35	1.00												
VII	Income level																						
	(median, \$ in	•	0.6	•	o -				•														
	thousands)	.29	.06	28	.05	.51	26	13	.39	.12	44	1.00	1 00										
V12	Unemployed (%)	05	.00	.14	.06	16	.26	.13	08	.04	.15	45	1.00										
V13	Without high																						
	school education																						
	(%)	07	14	10	.40	18	.31	.03	.17	.43	.24	57	.41	1.00									
V14	In poverty (%)	12	10	02	.08	22	.48	.24	13	.04	.24	78	.55	.68	1.00								
V15	Primary care																						
	physicians (N, per																						
	100,000)	.23	.21	08	02	.36	06	06	.23	.04	48	.36	20	39	26	1.00							
V16	Internal medicine																						
	subspecialists (N,																						
	per 100,000)	.28	.19	18	.02	.36	.08	06	.28	.10	41	.28	12	21	13	.69	1.00						
V17	Without health																						
	insurance (%)	06	07	05	.43	15	.19	.23	.21	.38	.14	36	.03	.57	.38	25	16	1.00					
V18	Health-care																						
	expenditures (\$ in																						
	thousands)	.03	03	15	.03	16	.17	02	08	.01	.11	29	.18	.39	.34	26	11	.29	1.00				
V19	Access to exercise																						
	opportunities (%)	.31	.14	13	.12	.38	20	11	.36	.17	63	.47	19	42	40	.47	.34	30	28	1.00			
V20	Food environment																						
	index	.10	03	.02	01	.17	54	29	.15	.04	08	.61	46	41	73	.17	.08	38	23	.31	1.00		
V21	Current smoking																						
	(%)	23	01	05	29	36	.28	.29	42	27	.32	64	.39	.46	.66	30	17	.13	.39	41	51	1.00	
V22	Excessive drinking																						
	(%)	.14	18	20	.03	.22	38	03	.16	.04	29	.54	36	52	55	.27	.17	39	28	.41	.49	47	1.00

 Table S2. Correlation matrix for county characteristics